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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the Parks and Recreation

          4  hearing today. My name is Joe Addabbo, I chair the

          5  Committee.

          6                 At this point I would like to welcome

          7  my colleagues who are here and I will also recognize

          8  them as they come in.

          9                 To my left we have Council Member

         10  Dilan. We have Council Member Gallagher, to my

         11  right. And for the first time, the newest member of

         12  the Committee, Council Member Espada. Good to see

         13  you, and welcome.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: To my right here

         16  we have Counsel Tom Curry, and I want to thank Tom

         17  Curry and also Analyst Frank Neely and Chima

         18  Obichere for the work on this hearing. I also would

         19  like to thank the Sergeant-At-Arms for making things

         20  run so smoothly.

         21                 Let's see here. Today we're doing an

         22  oversight hearing on the current state of the

         23  Department of Parks and Recreation revenue

         24  generating sources and concessions throughout the

         25  City.
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          2                 The estimated revenue for Fiscal Year

          3  2004 at this point is 63.1 million, and as we know

          4  the concessions go right to the general fund, they

          5  do not stay within the Department, except for the

          6  exceptions of recreational centers.

          7                 Concessions range from pushcarts

          8  selling hotdogs and pretzels to an 18-hole golf

          9  course, possibly to Shea and Yankee Stadium, as well

         10  as Arthur Ash Stadium. And in this time of fiscal

         11  need for this City these concessions become very,

         12  very important.

         13                 A successful concession season could

         14  mean much additional funds for this City, which,

         15  again, during these tough times is much needed, but

         16  also a successful concession season could mean a lot

         17  in terms of services and opportunities for our

         18  residents. And at this point I'd like to welcome

         19  Deputy Commissioner Garafola for the Department of

         20  Parks and Recreation for being here today and

         21  representing Commissioner Benepe. Thank you very

         22  much. And if you would please introduce those who

         23  you brought with you, I'd greatly appreciate it.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I'm

         25  here with Joanne Imohiosen, she's the Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Revenue and Concession, and also to

          3  my right is Mora Haggerty, and she is our

          4  Intergovernmental Liaison and Coordinator.

          5                 Also, if I can just mention a couple

          6  of people we have here who are here, our Director of

          7  Revenue and Concessions, Ron Lieberman, his Deputy

          8  Charles Cloth; Mike Lianetti, our accountant; we

          9  have Betsy Smith, who is our Director, our Chief of

         10  Marketing and Sponsorship and Corporate Sponsorship,

         11  and Katie Langhammer, our Director of Special

         12  Events; and Honey Fortgang, who is on my staff.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Before I ask you

         14  to give your testimony, and, of course, answer some

         15  questions, just let the audience know that today

         16  also we will be voting on a resolution, and when the

         17  appropriate number of Council Members come here, I'd

         18  like to do that as well, considering that we do have

         19  a couple of Council Members here who have other

         20  pressing engagements, I'd like to get that out as

         21  soon as we do have a quorum, but I'd like to start

         22  the discussion on concessions at this point.

         23                 So, Commissioner Garafola, would you

         24  please start.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Good
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          2  afternoon, Chairman Addabbo and other Council

          3  Members. I want to welcome Councilman Espada to his

          4  first meeting today at the Parks Committee and the

          5  other Councilmen, welcome as well.

          6                 On behalf of Commissioner Adrian

          7  Benepe, our Parks Commissioner, it's a pleasure to

          8  be here today and testify on our Parks Concession

          9  and marketing initiatives.

         10                 Parks strives to keep all our parks

         11  and playgrounds clean and safe and to provide

         12  recreational programming for all New Yorkers to

         13  enjoy.

         14                 Another way in which we serve Parks

         15  users is by providing a wide range of services

         16  throughout our more than 600 concessions. Everything

         17  from hotdog vendors to gourmet kiosks to the low

         18  boathouse come under the Parks purview.

         19                 Our concessions provide an important

         20  source of revenue for the City, revenue from special

         21  events, permits, sponsorships, recreation center

         22  members, et cetera, support Parks operations and

         23  programs.

         24                 Our strong relationship with many

         25  corporations and private sector organizations has
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          2  resulted in funding for recreational programming,

          3  Citywide special events, in some cases the

          4  materials, equipment and labor used for Parks

          5  maintenance.

          6                 These partnerships are particularly

          7  important during these tough financial times.

          8                 We're not only striving to strengthen

          9  this commitment of our current private sector

         10  partners, we're also seeking to build new

         11  relationships and identify new sponsorship

         12  opportunities.

         13                 Realizing the importance of this

         14  revenue to both the City and the agency, we have

         15  worked hard to increase the agency's revenue year

         16  after year. The Chart behind me shows how we

         17  increased revenue by over $59 million over the last

         18  15 years.

         19                 I'd like to discuss in more detail

         20  our existing partnerships and the new sponsorship

         21  opportunities we're pursuing right now, and then

         22  after that I'd like Assistant Commissioner Imohiosen

         23  to discuss our concessions and our major sources of

         24  revenue in more detail.

         25                 First of all, as I mentioned, we have
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          2  a long history of partnering with the private

          3  sector. These partnerships and sponsorships enable

          4  us to develop athletic and recreational programs,

          5  after school and culture programs, computer resource

          6  centers, Citywide special events, environmental and

          7  ranger programs. Also, we have partnerships which

          8  have raised millions of dollars for capital

          9  development in parks through a number of the

         10  organizations that we work with.

         11                 For example, last year we launched --

         12  and our partnerships are many and include such

         13  venerable organizations as the Central Park

         14  Conservancy, the City Parks Foundation, and the

         15  Prospect Park Alliance.

         16                 Also, some of the programs, and one I

         17  would like to mention, which is launched recently,

         18  and it's in cooperation with National Geographic

         19  Society, the Natural Classroom. This program is

         20  designed to link young New Yorkers grades K through

         21  8 to the natural world, and give kids reasons to

         22  turn off the television, log off the Internet,

         23  pocket the Game Boy and exchange sedentary habits

         24  for the experience of the great outdoors. We want

         25  people outdoors, we want them doing things, we want
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          2  them learning.

          3                 Encouraging our children to be more

          4  active and healthy is one of the most important

          5  initiatives that parks can do.

          6                 Our Hershey-sponsored track and field

          7  competition, for example, got kids outdoors involved

          8  in healthy competition and helped them understand

          9  and adopt the concept of rules, regulations, team

         10  work, discipline and sportsmanship.

         11                 Corporate sponsors, such as Hershey,

         12  play a large role in numerous special events we

         13  offer each year.

         14                 Newmark Real Estate sponsors, for

         15  instance, the Great Halloween Party; Singular

         16  Wireless, our Beach Volleyball Tournament; Starbucks

         17  for Easter Extravaganza are just a few examples of

         18  the many corporate sponsors we use and help with

         19  thousands of New Yorkers to participate in free

         20  activities in our parks, and this weekend I'd like

         21  to just remind everyone that we have a huge Easter

         22  Extravaganza at Central Park and it's going to be

         23  from 11:00 to 3:00. We welcome everyone and invite

         24  you all to be there for this great party. And there

         25  will be, literally, if it's a good day, we will get
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          2  over 25,000 people coming out.

          3                 It's a free event. We have corporate

          4  sponsors who have put the money out there, and

          5  that's why we're able to do that.

          6                 And many of these events that we

          7  have, we literally have like 12 park-produced

          8  events, minimally each year, which basically the

          9  money is coming from these corporate sponsors and

         10  it's free to New Yorkers and the children and their

         11  adults as well.

         12                 Each year Parks receives a variety of

         13  also in-kind donations. Our vehicle fleet has

         14  expanded with truck donations from General Motors

         15  and Toyota, and alternate fuel vehicles from Honda.

         16                 Recently the Friends of Cunningham

         17  Park donated a Gator to Parks. This small four-wheel

         18  drive utility car is used on rough terrain, such as

         19  paths and beaches to transfer tools and materials.

         20                 Also Viacom, WKTU, New York Post,

         21  have been sponsors of this year's Easter

         22  Extravaganza. They provided in-kind donations by

         23  assisting us with the advertising and marketing of

         24  these campaigns.

         25                 But we have to spend literally
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          2  hundreds of thousands of dollars each year, and

          3  we're getting this for free and they're helping us,

          4  and that's tremendous contribution to them.

          5                 While we've been successful in these

          6  past initiatives, we must continue to move forward

          7  and pursue new sponsors and sources of revenue.

          8                 Additional sources of revenue will

          9  help us maintain and enhance the current level of

         10  service in the face of budget cuts.

         11                 Currently we are exploring marketing

         12  and sponsorship initiatives, looking at the

         13  possibility of naming rights and new facilities;

         14  official vehicle opportunities and sponsorships;

         15  parks sponsors to provide additional budget relief.

         16  Also aggressively seeking sponsorships for new and

         17  existing programs and facilities for such as Adopt a

         18  Green Street, Adopt a Playground, Adopt a Park, and

         19  we're looking at that and we're getting some, you

         20  know, in terms of interest from various people on

         21  that.

         22                 We're making progress in the

         23  preliminary phase of our new sponsorship outreach.

         24  Recently we formed a partnership with MetLife, who

         25  has agreed to adopt five green streets in
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          2  Queensborough Plaza.

          3                 We're also in discussion with the

          4  Real Estate Board of New York, and other New York

          5  City businesses regarding potential sponsorship of

          6  green streets and other parks facilities.

          7                 We're also working closely with

          8  various New York City sports associations and sport

          9  teams, and hoping that they're going to help us

         10  sponsor tournament programs and instructional

         11  programs for the kids in New York City.

         12                 As we continue to explore sponsorship

         13  opportunities, our priority, however, is to enhance

         14  park services without compromising the park

         15  experience.

         16                 In order to maintain the park

         17  experience, all corporate sponsorship must be

         18  appropriate, discrete and sensitive to the needs of

         19  the City, of people of New York City.

         20                 As I mentioned before, a large

         21  portion of our revenue comes also from our

         22  concessions, and Assistant Commissioner Joanne

         23  Imohiosen from Revenue will now discuss our

         24  concession program with you.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:
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          2  Hello. I'd like to echo what Commissioner Garafola

          3  said. Parks has approximately 600 concessions. They

          4  come and go. Some of them are pushcarts, so it

          5  varies from year-to-year, and the purpose of these

          6  concessions is to enhance the experience of park

          7  users. That is its primary purpose, both through

          8  food service and through sports and recreational

          9  activities.

         10                 We want to positively impact the

         11  quality of life in parks with our concessions, and

         12  our concessions go anywhere from a hot dog cart, to

         13  restaurant like Tavern on the Green and Wallman Rink

         14  in Central Park, small concessions to large ones,

         15  individually operated and operated by large

         16  operators.

         17                 Many of our concessions have

         18  recreational components, and I, in fact, would say

         19  the bulk of them, such as batting cages, miniature

         20  golf, golf, of course, tennis, marinas, stables,

         21  rowboat and bicycle rentals. We also have some

         22  amusement parks and carousels.

         23                 In addition to these concessions, we

         24  also administer four leases for four stadia in the

         25  City, Yankee, Shea, the US Tennis Center, and most
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          2  recently KeySpan Park, which is the home of the

          3  Brooklyn Cyclones.

          4                 In addition to providing food, drink

          5  and other recreational activities, concessions

          6  maintain parks facilities and they also improve the

          7  areas. For example, in the past approximately ten

          8  years, our various concessionaires have invested

          9  approximately $65 million, either to build new

         10  facilities or to substantially rehabilitate existing

         11  facilities, this is all, of course, without cost to

         12  the taxpayer.

         13                 Concessions also can dramatically

         14  change the atmosphere in a park. A very good example

         15  is the 79th Street Boat Basin Cafe. In the mid-'90s

         16  that area was totally vacant, it had derelict in it,

         17  and we put in a cafe, which has grown in popularity.

         18  That area is now very well used, including in the

         19  evening, and it pays us a quarter of a million a

         20  year, so it's turned the negative park situation

         21  into a very positive one.

         22                 In addition to providing services to

         23  park patrons, improving the quality of life in our

         24  parks, our concessions promote economic activity in

         25  local communities. Not only do the concessionaires
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          2  often hire from the community, but our small

          3  concessions, such as pushcarts and newsstands are a

          4  wonderful way for small entrepreneurs to get

          5  started, and in fact we have many immigrant groups

          6  who get started in this country through our

          7  concessions, currently we have groups from the

          8  Middle East, Russia, China, Central and South

          9  America seems to be a lot of vendors coming from

         10  there now run a lot of our pushcarts.

         11                 We help them get their Health

         12  Department licenses, and we help them through the

         13  whole concession crisis -- process.

         14                 When I joined parks in 1979 we

         15  brought in two and a half million dollars in

         16  concessions and revenues. This past fiscal year we

         17  brought in sixty-one and a half million, so that the

         18  concession revenue has become a very important part

         19  of the Parks' budget, and very important in these

         20  fiscal times.

         21                 We raised our revenue by

         22  renegotiating contracts and aggressively looking for

         23  appropriate but new concession opportunities. This

         24  spring we're going to issue an RFP for five -- seven

         25  golf courses whose licenses have expired, and in
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          2  some of those RFPs we're going to ask for

          3  restaurants which will further enhance the revenue

          4  and the experience.

          5                 We also have recently renegotiated a

          6  new contract for Shea Parking, which will pay us a

          7  minimum of 3.2 million a year, that's for parking

          8  cars at Shea Stadium, and we're looking at putting

          9  in a county fair a year from now in Flushing Meadow

         10  Corona Park, and we've renegotiated a number of

         11  other concession contracts.

         12                 We're particularly excited about

         13  Randall's Island which hasn't had much going on at

         14  it. Starting in April, April 24th, Cirque De Soleil

         15  will be putting on performances and with that and

         16  the parking we'll get about $500,000 for that event,

         17  and we're currently evaluating proposals that have

         18  recently come in for an ampitheater for concerts and

         19  for a sports venue. We expect to have those chosen

         20  within the next few months.

         21                 Although we received many suggestions

         22  for concessions, first and foremost the concession

         23  must be appropriate to the parkland and it must

         24  serve the recreational needs of our constituents.

         25                 If we determine that a concession
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          2  idea is appropriate for a park, we begin by

          3  soliciting proposal for the concession. We do this

          4  competitively and we want to ensure that the maximum

          5  fees are received for these concessions.

          6                 We're also very careful to make sure

          7  that we collect all the monies from the concessions

          8  that we do have, and we're very proud to say that we

          9  have less than one percent delinquency, which is a

         10  very, very low rate for arrearage, in private or

         11  public sector.

         12                 A problem we've had is unlicensed

         13  vendors in Battery Park and Central Park, and they

         14  can impact on the revenues collected and therefore

         15  paid by concessionaires in those parks who have to

         16  compete with people who are not paying anything.

         17                 I would like to briefly discuss how

         18  concessions are awarded. This is all pursuant to the

         19  1989 City Charter. There's a concession, a franchise

         20  and concession review committee which promulgates

         21  rules which we follow very carefully, and we're

         22  subject to audit by the Comptroller on this. We

         23  submit either RFPs or RFBs, either bids or

         24  proposals. Bids are usually for small concessions,

         25  such as pushcarts, and proposals would be -- come in
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          2  for some of our larger concessions, and the RFP --

          3  proposals go to the local community board and the

          4  Borough President and Council Member for 30 days for

          5  review and comments.

          6                 Concessions that bring in over

          7  100,000 a year, or for a longer than ten years are

          8  considered significant concessions, and we hold a

          9  joint public hearing with the franchise committee on

         10  those concessions.

         11                 In conclusion, whether it is

         12  providing a clean park, food services, recreational

         13  program or special events, parks revenue sources are

         14  foremost a way to improve our parks and the park

         15  experience of our park patrons.

         16                 We would love to have suggestions

         17  from Council members for new concessions, and with

         18  that I want to thank you and we will take questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         20  much, Assistant Commissioner.

         21                 What I would like to do is first of

         22  all welcome additional colleagues of mine who have

         23  come here to be with us today. We have Council

         24  Member Brewer, Council Member Clarke. Thank you very

         25  much. Council Member Foster, good to see you, and
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          2  Council Member Jackson. Thank you very much for

          3  being here today.

          4                 What I'd like to do if we can is just

          5  put this on hold for one second, so if we could just

          6  pause the tape at this point, and we will pick up

          7  the conversation of concessions and sponsorships in

          8  a second, but since we do have a quorum and since,

          9  before any of my members run away, I'd like to vote

         10  out a resolution, Resolution 659.

         11                 Basically what this does, it

         12  sponsored, there's two pieces of legislation on the

         13  State side, both Senate and the Assembly, and I just

         14  want to lend some support. What this basically says

         15  is that in conjunction with the State Comptroller's

         16  Office, if a person gets an overpayment from their

         17  City income tax, and they are a City resident, if

         18  there is an overpayment, if they make an overpayment

         19  or if they get a refund, they can appropriately

         20  check off a box on their income tax return to make a

         21  contribution directly to the Department of Parks and

         22  Recreation through a fund that is set up.

         23                 I think it's a great way that a

         24  person can voluntarily contribute to the Department.

         25  I think it helps us in a time of need, our parks are
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          2  in a time of need, and I do want to lend my support

          3  to the Legislature on the State side. Again, that is

          4  Resolution 659. Thank you very much.

          5                 So, at this point can we have a roll

          6  call on Resolution 659.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Espada.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: By a vote of

         22  seven in the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

         23  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         24  please sign the Committee report and the vote will

         25  be held open.

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 Okay, we can roll the tape again, and

          4  thank you very much for your patience.

          5                 Getting back to concessions,

          6  Commissioner, Assistant Commissioner, in your

          7  opinion, do you feel that this current season for

          8  concessions is doing better than years past, worst,

          9  could do better? In just a nutshell, general

         10  statement, do you think it's better than last year

         11  or in years past?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         13  We're actually doing better.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Doing better.

         15                 Roughly 600 concessions, how many are

         16  still available?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         18  Well, we're pretty well advertised -- the pushcarts

         19  get advertised often yearly and that's finished. We

         20  have one more mailing that's going out soon with, I

         21  don't know, maybe 20 or 50. But most of the

         22  concessions are already awarded, and of course, a

         23  lot of them are for a number of years, some of them

         24  are for as much as 20 years, and we have people

         25  running those concessions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, but,

          3  Assistant Commissioner, we have no idea about how

          4  many are still available at this point?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: In

          6  terms of any fixed structure, the answer is none. In

          7  terms of pushcarts, the Citywide, it's a handful of

          8  pushcarts, it's not buildings, it's pushcarts. All

          9  of the buildings have been advertised and awarded.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. I know I

         11  personally have some down in the Rockaway Peninsula,

         12  Rockaway Beach area, and I hope that they're open

         13  because in years past we had lifeguards there which

         14  we much appreciate, and obviously the concessions

         15  mean a lot, not only obviously to the City in terms

         16  of revenue, but like you stated earlier, to

         17  providing a service for those who use our great

         18  beaches in areas throughout our City.

         19                 As far as also concessions are

         20  concerned, you said mailing. Who are these mailings

         21  going to, or how are they advertised? How do you

         22  actually promote the concessions?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         24  Well, many different ways.

         25                 First of all, I'd like to comment,
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          2  just our luck that the two concessions that were

          3  vacant last year were in Rockaway. What happened

          4  there was we had a concessionaire and he walked out,

          5  literally we had chosen him and he walked out at the

          6  beginning of the season. That concession has been

          7  readvertised and we have a few responses which are

          8  considerably better and we're working on awarding

          9  that right now. So, hopefully that will not happen

         10  again. It's very unique that we have empty buildings

         11  like that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: In

         14  terms of promoting concessions, we have a mailing

         15  list of several thousand, and we're required to

         16  advertise in the City record. I don't know that

         17  anybody reads that. We advertised in major

         18  publications, local newspapers and, for instance, if

         19  we're doing something like a snack bar, we'll go

         20  physically into the area where we're advertising it,

         21  go to local restaurants and so on to see if we can

         22  get them interested, and more recently we've been

         23  using the Internet. We were very successful when we

         24  advertised the Shea Stadium parking lot, we wanted

         25  to get some new proposers in and we used the
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          2  Internet and identified nationwide parking companies

          3  and we got some very competitive proposals because

          4  of that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Very good. Our

          6  Technologies Chair is very happy about that, Council

          7  Member Brewer.

          8                 I know your promotion and your work

          9  in due diligence with the lifeguard situation should

         10  be commended. Obviously we do have a rather large

         11  compliment of lifeguards, or we do last year, and I

         12  understand it's going well this year; do you say

         13  that you promote just as feverishly for, you know,

         14  concessionaires as you do lifeguards?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         16  We're very aggressive in looking for new

         17  concessions, and I think our concessions revenue is

         18  going up year-after-year, it's an indication that

         19  remember that  we're very restricted in what kinds

         20  of activities we can put in park land, and given all

         21  the restrictions, we've increased the revenue

         22  substantially, in good part by trying to get new

         23  concessionaires.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And you said of

         25  the revenue there's roughly less than one percent of
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          2  accounts receivable, basically, those who you are

          3  awaiting payment from; what efforts do you take to

          4  go out and get that money from those who have not

          5  paid?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          7  Well, we have a whole procedure. We have a monthly

          8  receivables meeting which I attend in our Revenue

          9  Division, and then we send notices to anyone that's

         10  late. We actually call them, and if they're late

         11  more than ten days, we send notices to cure, and

         12  frankly we really have very few that are in arrears.

         13  There are sometimes chronic people who don't pay,

         14  and they're either -- if we can we'll work out a

         15  payout schedule, and if they're not going to pay we

         16  get rid of them and put somebody else in.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Just to put a

         18  dollar amount on that, less than one percent figure

         19  do we have?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         21  It's never more than a few thousand dollars a month.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: A month.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: And

         24  of course it changes every month. You'll have one

         25  person late one month and collect it, it might be
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          2  somebody else.

          3                 We find that there are repeaters and

          4  we get rid of them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. Okay.

          6                 Any questions from my colleagues?

          7                 Council Member Foster.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

          9  It's good seeing you again.

         10                 I have a question. Once a

         11  concessionaire is chosen is there a review process,

         12  say a year or two years, or do they keep it for as

         13  long as the lease on the concession? Obviously I'm

         14  not talking about pushcarts, but --

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         16  Well, some of our licenses go as long as 20 years,

         17  and there's no formal review process. We have

         18  inspectors who inspect the concessions to make sure

         19  that they're keeping them in good order, that they

         20  have their price list, that they're clean, and we

         21  also, of course, are very careful that they pay

         22  their rent. So, it's just a matter of contract

         23  monitoring.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Is there any

         25  type of -- in RFP process, when we're going out to
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          2  locate concessionaires, is there any type of

          3  consideration put into the RFP for the

          4  concessionaires? If there's a larger establishment,

          5  a higher community residence?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

          7  usually say that we will look favorably on hiring

          8  from the local community. In fact, it's something

          9  that's a natural and that they often do, because a

         10  lot of these are jobs where you have to get there

         11  early in the morning and so on, and there is a lot

         12  of hiring by the concessions, but we do say that,

         13  yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So, when a

         15  review of the contracted services are done, after

         16  someone is awarded a concession, do we then check to

         17  see if in fact they have hired community residents,

         18  or do we take it at their word that, yes, they're

         19  doing it?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         21  It's on a more or less informal basis, but when we

         22  go to all the concessions, and I go to all the big

         23  ones personally and sort of chat with the personnel,

         24  and you find that mostly it is local people.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Is there any
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          2  way to get a list of, for example, in my district,

          3  the 16th, a list of the concessionaires in the

          4  neighborhood, in the district?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          6  Certainly.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Lastly, can

          8  you tell me if the stadium courts are Parks, and

          9  right down near 161st Street?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         11  Those are Parks' concessions. And those were, the

         12  concessionaire was changed several years ago. They

         13  did a major rehabilitation job there. And in fact

         14  this summer they're going to fix the court. There

         15  are about six courts there that are unusable, and in

         16  return for using them for part of the time they're

         17  going to fix those up for us. I think that that's

         18  the cost of about $100,000.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Now, how, like

         20  for example that court right there, no one, I

         21  shouldn't say no one, very few neighborhood people

         22  use those courts. Those courts -- I have friends the

         23  live in Westchester County that know where my

         24  district is because they drive in to use the Tennis

         25  Courts, so in that situation where a concessionaire
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          2  is given, you know, using the stadium courts, what

          3  type of procedure is in place to ensure that the

          4  people that actually live across the street can use

          5  those courts, or is there none, because -- go ahead,

          6  I'm sorry.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          8  During the winter there's a charge for using the

          9  bubble, but in the summer, of course, the bubble

         10  comes down and those courts are all free. You can

         11  just go in and sign up and use the courts.

         12                 There are also junior programs that

         13  Parks runs using some of those courts, and we have

         14  part-time to run programs, mostly for kids that are

         15  free, or nominal cost.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 If you can just get me a list of the

         19  concessionaires in the 16th District, I would

         20  appreciate it.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         22  Sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         25  Council Member Foster.
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          2                 Council Member Clarke.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair. Thank you for allowing me to sit in on this

          5  hearing.

          6                 I came out of a concern that is

          7  generated in my district, and I wanted to ask just a

          8  couple of procedural questions just for the

          9  edification of some very dissatisfied constituents.

         10                 I heard your response to Council

         11  Member Foster's question around monitoring, and

         12  while I can understand inspection in times of fiscal

         13  crisis, I think it's important that we sort of begin

         14  to update how we deal with people that are getting

         15  an advantage from being a concessionaire in the City

         16  of New York.

         17                 Is there any type of assessment or

         18  evaluation protocol that is put in place once

         19  someone has been awarded a lease or a concession in

         20  the City?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         22  Well, again, we have inspectors that go around to

         23  make sure that the concession is clean, that the

         24  prices are correct and posted, and we monitor very

         25  carefully the payments.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'd like to

          3  suggest that quality control issues be put on the

          4  table for the Parks Department where these

          5  concessions are concerned.

          6                 Do you have the capacity within the

          7  agency to provide technical assistance to perhaps a

          8  concessionaire that has misrepresented their ability

          9  to provide service to a community?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I'm

         11  not --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: When I say

         13  technical assistance, for instance, if you get a

         14  concessionaire that has represented one thing in the

         15  RFP and has been able to become successfully

         16  awarded, yet becomes unable to live up to their

         17  lease agreement, and even audited findings from the

         18  Comptroller's Office, do we have the capacity within

         19  the agency to go and provide some technical

         20  assistance to that concessionaire when we find that

         21  they're struggling?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         23  Well, we have an architect that could help them with

         24  designs, if they have to redesign something, and

         25  engineers that can make sure whatever they do is
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          2  safe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: But

          5  in terms of if they can't pay, or they're just doing

          6  a lousy job, either the concession will expire and

          7  we won't select them again, or in certain cases we

          8  do end the concession. We have to give them --

          9  follow due process which we do very carefully. We

         10  work with our lawyers and with the Law Department

         11  and we will throw them out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So once you

         13  have found that someone is sort of breaching their

         14  lease agreement, a procedure then goes into place,

         15  how long would you estimate that that typically,

         16  just, you know, generally speaking, takes with

         17  respect to a concessionaire?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         19  It's more or less complicated, depending on the size

         20  of the concession.

         21                 With a pushcart, if they're just

         22  filthy and they don't pay, we have to send them a

         23  notice and we call them in, and we give them maybe

         24  ten to 30 days to remedy. If they don't, we call

         25  them in again, and it could be several months before
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          2  we feel we've gone through due process and can get

          3  them out.

          4                 With a fixed building, such as a

          5  restaurant, they made sure some of the breeches, and

          6  may come in and go back and forth, and then if

          7  they're actually occupying the premises, it's more

          8  difficult, and that's when we get involved with the

          9  litigation section of Corporation Counsel.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, on average

         11  for like a fixed -- I'm talking about a tennis

         12  court, let me just start there.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: Oh,

         14  I know what you're talking about.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes. I have

         16  the Parade Grounds Tennis Court which is really a

         17  problem.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: It

         19  is really a problem.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I

         22  agree with you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         25  have had problems with the concession, it was
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          2  supposed to build a new building.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: It's a mess.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          5  They don't pay periodically, it's a mess. I

          6  completely agree with you. We are working, this one

          7  has taken a very long time. We're working, you

          8  notice them, they cure, they pay, they don't pay. We

          9  are working actually with the chief of the

         10  Litigation Section in Corporation Counsel on this

         11  concession, and this is one example where we've had

         12  a very difficult time. This is not typical of most

         13  of our concessions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. All

         15  right, I'm glad to hear that it's not typical.

         16                 We'd like to see an expeditious

         17  resolution of this. Not only does it serve my

         18  district, but many people from around the community

         19  because it's adjacent to Prospect Park, I'd like to

         20  utilize that facility, and it has really

         21  deteriorated below the quality that anyone would

         22  want to use a facility, and it's a great facility,

         23  and so we'd hope that we can expedite what needs to

         24  be done with that concessionaire and get that back

         25  into working order for so many that enjoy it during
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          2  the summertime.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I

          4  couldn't agree -- (applause.) I completely agree

          5  with you. You should also know that there are

          6  probably many interested parties who will run that

          7  concession.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'm sure there

          9  are. If I had the money.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         11  We're working with Corporation Counsel and have been

         12  for some time on this, so we really are guided by

         13  our attorneys. We will call you and update you, but

         14  unfortunately this is one that has been going on for

         15  awhile, and it is not typical.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. We'd

         17  like to know, that, you know, we can get some

         18  relief, you know, as soon as is possible. We have

         19  the capacity there to be year-round, but certainly

         20  the summertime when our young people are off from

         21  school is a good time for them to become much more

         22  proficient. We expect to see many Venas, many

         23  Serinas coming out of the district, and so time is

         24  of the essence.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:
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          2  Councilwoman, I'd just like to say two things: One,

          3  I received almost all the e-mails and the letters

          4  that come in, so they come through my desk and they

          5  also come through Commissioner Benepe's desk. We're

          6  very aware of the situation. Joanne and I have

          7  talked on numerous occasions about, also being a

          8  tennis player, I'm not happy about it. So, we want

          9  to get that taken care of. We're working closely

         10  with the legal process, and hopefully we can sort

         11  that out and we can get a great facility there. That

         12  facility has been too run down for too long, and we

         13  will do what we can.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, and

         15  on behalf of the community that uses that facility,

         16  we look forward to a speedy resolution of the

         17  problem.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         21  much, Council Member Clarke.

         22                 Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. Hi,

         24  Joanne.

         25                 My question is this: First of all,
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          2  thank you. You know, 79th Street Boat Basin, as you

          3  mentioned in your testimony, is a wonderful example

          4  of a good concessionaire. And I also appreciate it,

          5  because we get on a regular basis information about

          6  the concessions that I know you forward to our

          7  office, so thank you for that.

          8                 My question is two-fold. One is

          9  Riverside Park South, I know there was a problem

         10  with that last year, we're going to have a cart this

         11  year, but I was just wondering how will that be

         12  resolved? For those who don't know, that's a part of

         13  Riverside Park that was to have a, you know, pick up

         14  your coffee kind of place, no particular seating,

         15  and I guess the concessionaire disappeared. I was

         16  just wondering what the update of that particular

         17  situation is, and how we could not have that happen

         18  again?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

         20  concessionaire was supposed to, we're going to put a

         21  card in this summer. The concessionaire was supposed

         22  to give us designs, the designs weren't very good.

         23  Now they've given us other designs, and if they're

         24  okay we'll proceed with them, otherwise we've given

         25  them I think 30 days and we'll readvertise the
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          2  concession. But they gave us a whole new, they got a

          3  new architect and gave us a new set of designs, so

          4  that is being reviewed now.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: So,

          7  hopefully either this is it or we'll readvertise.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It just seems

          9  to me that somebody like that should have done it

         10  right the first time. So, I don't know that I would

         11  hold a whole lot of faith in this person.

         12                 So, they have 30 days and then that's

         13  it? Thirty days from, like are the 30 days up at the

         14  end of April?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I

         16  think it's soon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. All

         18  right, I love to be kept abreast of that, because I

         19  like the second guy better.

         20                 The other thing is, the Tavern on the

         21  Green, that's in my district, I just didn't know how

         22  long that concession is. It's a wonderful place, I

         23  was just wondering if there have been issues in the

         24  past.

         25                 I don't know whether that is all
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          2  resolved? I must admit, I'm not up-to-date like I am

          3  on Riverside Park.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          5  Tavern on the Green, the license expires in 2009,

          6  and the issues we have with it are from time to

          7  time, it's mostly when they put up a tent for an

          8  event and it's very noisy, and the tents are limited

          9  to five a year. What we've done this year is they

         10  agree to pay the overtime for a couple of our

         11  inspectors so that the taxpayers aren't paying it,

         12  who sit there and monitor the noise. And I have to

         13  say, since I live near there --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, you do.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: I'm

         16  on it, unfortunately, personally, and they have to

         17  now shut down any amplified music at 10:00 p.m.

         18  Again, there's only five of these a year. They are

         19  generally a nuisance but they're allowed to do them

         20  by their contract. But we do watch it carefully, and

         21  they need our approval to put up the tent, so we

         22  only limit them to what they're allowed.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Now, the

         24  other thing I want to know is, the concessionaire I

         25  think at Central Park Tennis is fine. That's done by
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          2  the City Park Foundation, as opposed to parks? Or is

          3  that parks? I was just trying to figure out in some

          4  cases it's the City Park Foundation, in some cases

          5  it's the Parks Department?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: In

          7  this case City Parks Foundation concession expired

          8  last year, was the first year with a new

          9  concessionaire, who did a lot of capital work around

         10  the building, and has been very successful. So this

         11  is the second year of just a regular concessionaire,

         12  they're not any foundation, they're just a private

         13  operator, and we've had a lot of compliments and

         14  they've done a lot of work to the facility, and

         15  we're quite pleased with them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         18  They're also paying us a nice amount.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, and

         20  so the City Parks Foundation or other Parks groups,

         21  do they do other concessionaires or was that just

         22  sort of an anomaly?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         24  have a few of them, Prospect Park, Alliance runs the

         25  carousel and the State rental in Prospect Park.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

          4  have in Fort Ryan, New York Restoration bid on and

          5  won and runs the restaurant.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

          8  have a few here and there, not many.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. All

         10  right.

         11                 And my final question is, are there

         12  other ways of using the Internet?

         13                 The reason I ask that is are you

         14  thinking about using it for other kinds of

         15  advertising? Do you kind of keep people up-to-date

         16  that way? Is there some other means of communication

         17  with your concessionaires that can be done, and is

         18  that any kind of a savings?

         19                 I mean, the way in which we renew our

         20  tennis permits, because I'm a tennis player, is so

         21  easy, and is that something that's done in any other

         22  mechanism?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         24  With concessions we do put the RFPs on the Internet,

         25  but we do mail --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And people can

          3  respond on the Internet? Or is it done via --

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's

          6  something that you're working toward?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

          8  concessionaires are making it possible starting this

          9  spring to do golf reservations for tee times on the

         10  Internet.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So,

         12  you'll be able to do that on the Internet as well as

         13  by phone, to reserve your tee times.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: As

         15  long as we have women playing golf I think that's a

         16  good thing. We're not Augusta.

         17                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Brewer. I'd like to welcome to the

         20  Committee Council Member Gerson, good to see you.

         21  And Council Member Serrano. Jose, good to see you.

         22                 We have Council Member Espada with a

         23  question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you,

         25  Chairman Addabbo.
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          2                 Let me just preface that I have been

          3  a life-long Yankee fan, and certainly the 69 Mets

          4  weren't bad either. But let me ask you, how much

          5  money, if any, do the New York Yankees owe the City

          6  of New York?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

          8  Yankees? They don't owe us anything.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: They don't.

         10  And the current lease is due to expire when?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         12  Well, the lease was amended in 2001. The end of 2001

         13  the lease was amended and it gave it five one-year

         14  extensions. So that would take it to 2005.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: One year at a

         16  time.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: One

         18  year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Is there

         20  anything in the lease that you could think of that

         21  allows for the City of New York to realize any

         22  revenue sharing with the very prosperous Yankee

         23  enterprise? Specifically, you know, cable TV,

         24  revenue, anything along those lines that you could

         25  think about in these one year at a time extensions?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          3  Well, 2005 and then five one year extensions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: But

          7  that is how we get our money from the teams, we get

          8  fees from the gait and concessions that start at

          9  five percent. If the attendance goes to 750,000, a

         10  million-five, we get seven and a half percent, and

         11  over that we get ten percent of the revenues and

         12  that's for the concessions and the gait, and there's

         13  a very complicated formula on the cable, so we share

         14  in those revenues.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: But what is

         16  the total amount of revenue that you get from cable,

         17  from the New York Yankees enterprise currently?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         19  Cable was a million and a half last year. It varies

         20  from year-to-year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And what was

         22  the total amount that the team made from cable

         23  revenue?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: We

         25  don't have it here, I'll have to get it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: You're saying

          3  that you get what percentage --

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

          5  cable is a fairly complicated formula. From the

          6  concessions and the gait we get, as I told you, five

          7  percent, seven and a half percent and ten percent,

          8  depending on the attendance.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Let me ask it

         10  another way. I'm really trying to find out what

         11  percentage of the revenue that the City gets from

         12  the total earnings that the New York Yankees

         13  Enterprise earns per year? Including cable and all

         14  revenue sources?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: It

         16  varies categories. I could get you a total number.

         17  My guess is it's something like a few percent,

         18  because certain things we get revenue from,

         19  advertising we don't, the suites we don't, so we

         20  could add up all the different categories and

         21  actually come out with a number.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Now, the

         23  concessions that some of us go to Yankee games, when

         24  we buy our frankfurters or what have you, those are

         25  operated, as you indicated, on a percentage of
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          2  revenue; we don't directly RFP those out, and that's

          3  by way of agreement, right?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          5  Right. The lease gives that to the Yankees. We

          6  really have very little say in the concessions. We

          7  don't have a say in the prices that they charge.

          8  But, again, we do get the percentages of their

          9  gross, as I explained before.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Now, just to

         11  the other enterprise, the New York Mets, do they owe

         12  us, the City, any money?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         14  There's an outstanding audit from the Mets and the

         15  Comptroller has issued an audit and they owe money

         16  for that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Any penalties

         18  accrued to that base amount?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

         20  leases do not provide for that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: When was the

         22  last time that understanding was negotiated?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         24  Well, again, the Mets lease in the end of 2001 has

         25  the same five, 2005 and one-year options. But the
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          2  framework for that lease was 1985.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Just to go

          4  back to the Yankee Stadium, again, it's not in my

          5  district but this is America's team. Off season;

          6  what are your plans for the use of that facility off

          7  season? Do you have any plans?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          9  During the off season there's a lot of maintenance

         10  that goes on, but hopefully the Yankees will again

         11  be there til November, and there's not much you can

         12  do in the winter in the stadium. We have some film

         13  shoots that go on there, and I should say this goes

         14  back to 1986, in Shea Stadium we had the Rolling

         15  Stones for six days at Shea in October, which

         16  worked, but past November there's not much you can

         17  do in an outdoor venue.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Well, you used

         19  to have a lot of football games.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: At

         21  Shea, that's right. There was a big college game

         22  they used to play --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: The Grambling.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         25  Grambling.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: We really need

          3  to bring -- I'm jumping in, excuse me -- but the

          4  Whitney M. Young Classic is huge for the black

          5  community and I used to go faithfully when I could

          6  walk down the hill and I'm less faithful because I

          7  have to trek to Giant Stadium. So, that is

          8  something, I know Yankees, they go to November, but

          9  that would be great if they could negotiate to bring

         10  them back.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: Let

         12  me find out what happened to that and let's see what

         13  we can do, I don't know why that moved.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Joanna,

         15  Chairman Addabbo, thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Espada.

         18                 You know, Council Member Espada

         19  brings up a good point. Two points, quickly, if I

         20  may. The 3 million roughly or so that the audit

         21  showed about the New York Metropolitan, New York

         22  Mets, is there any negotiation or discussion about

         23  getting at least some of that money back?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Intensive, and

         25  that is now in the hands of the City's Corporation

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Counsel himself.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And just

          4  generally speaking about the use of our stadiums for

          5  other events, in terms of providing events for

          6  residents, as well as revenue for the City; you have

          7  a USTA stadium that sits there predominantly for the

          8  most part, to my knowledge sits there except for one

          9  time a year. Is there any plans whatsoever to

         10  possibly utilize that stadium more than what's

         11  currently being used for?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         13  There are several concerts there. The rent structure

         14  in that lease, the City really doesn't get very

         15  much, in fact, almost nothing from special events

         16  there. If something comes up that's appropriate,

         17  we'd be certainly happy to look at it. I think there

         18  have been one or two concerts, but in terms of

         19  monetarily aiding us, it really doesn't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So you're saying

         21  basically because of the terms of the lease, it

         22  doesn't really promote, analysis doesn't make sense

         23  for the City.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         25  Right. The lease is very good overall for the City
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          2  because they pay for all their maintenance, and they

          3  build it at no cost to us, but in terms of the

          4  special event section, if we're going to spend our

          5  time on promoting, that's not where we'd spend it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And then

          7  considering the two other stadiums, the two major

          8  stadiums, Shea and Yankee, during a time limit or

          9  away from the stadium on the road, and for any

         10  period of longer period of time, and I know in an

         11  event that the stadiums may do some damage to the

         12  actual field during the season which could be a

         13  problem, but has the parks ever thought about some

         14  type of event that may not consider the damaging of

         15  the condition of the field and possibly during a

         16  time when they are away from the stadium, promote or

         17  use the stadium for other purposes.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         19  Well, we have done major concerts. You could put a

         20  tarp on the field, the promoters like to have seats

         21  on the field itself, but you can put some kind of

         22  protective tarp over it. Stadiums are fairly

         23  expensive, it has to be a major concert, and there

         24  just haven't been that many with all the cost of the

         25  utilities and the union labor and so on go in and
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          2  run a concert. It has to be major and really fill up

          3  50,000 seats or it doesn't make sense economically

          4  for the promoter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I think we could

          6  think of a couple of acts possibly that could fill

          7  up a stadium, but even if the stadium is filled up

          8  with these acts, would you say again doing the cost

          9  analysis that it really doesn't pay to do these

         10  large events at these stadiums? Or does it pay?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: At

         12  Yankee and Shea it does.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: It does pay?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         15  Yes.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It does

         17  pay, I think the question is the timing on the

         18  events. With the Yankees getting into the World

         19  Series it gets to be really a question every year to

         20  really come in and try to plan something, and

         21  sticking people out in November, it's hard enough in

         22  a world series game when you're out there in the

         23  cold --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I guess you're

         25  saying that means Shea Stadium is available; is that
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          2  what you're trying to say, Commissioner?

          3                 While we're on stadiums, Key Span

          4  Stadium, is this your question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I don't want to

          7  take it. Council Member Dilan is next with

          8  questions, but as far as KeySpan Stadium is

          9  concerned, how are the lease terms there? If you're

         10  saying USTA has poor lease terms as far as having

         11  other events there, how is KeySpan Stadium for that?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         13  Worse.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right. I see a

         15  trend. I see an unfortunate trend here.

         16                 Who negotiates your lease? Who

         17  negotiates the lease for the City?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

         19  KeySpan lease was negotiated by EDC. The USTA lease

         20  I believe, which goes back now a few years, was

         21  negotiated by EDC, and --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That's why I

         23  say, I'm starting to see a trend.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         25  Well, the Yankees and the Mets, basically the
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          2  framework for those go, the Yankees lease was

          3  negotiated in the mid-seventies, and the Mets in the

          4  mid-eighties. Actually, I was around when the Mets

          5  lease was renegotiated and it was mostly Corp

          6  Counsel that did that.

          7                 Parks has not negotiated any of

          8  those.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Council Member Dilan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And Mr.

         13  Chairman, I laughed at KeySpan, just because I was

         14  happy to see that Brooklyn had a part of the stadium

         15  action, and I was pleased to hear that.

         16                 My question is about the anticipated

         17  county fairs. You said that they were scheduled to

         18  begin when?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         20  Well, we're negotiating with one party, it would be

         21  about a year from June.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: A year from

         23  June.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: In

         25  Flushing Meadow Park, and it sounds like a lot of
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          2  fun, but it's not totally set yet.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: If I'm correct,

          4  the Department plans to hold the county fair in one

          5  park in every borough; correct?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          7  Well, depending on if the communities are okay with

          8  it and so on. Right now we've just started with

          9  Flushing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay. So, from

         11  the total county fair proposal, how much does the

         12  Department plan to raise?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         14  Well, we're hoping to raise about 750,000 in total.

         15  The one in Flushing, again, it's very preliminary,

         16  but it will be in the hundreds of thousands of

         17  dollars.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Hundreds of

         19  thousands.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         21  Yes.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: What

         23  we're trying to do is, it's really a new concept.

         24  We've never really done county fairs before and

         25  we're trying to see if we can get it started, and
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          2  we've gotten some interest in it and we want to try

          3  the one place, and if we can get obviously more

          4  locations, and more interest and get also somebody

          5  to come in and run these for us, we'd like to try it

          6  in a couple of different places. We think it could

          7  be like successful and it could be a lot of fun. For

          8  kids in New York City and adults.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: What does the

         10  Department have in mind when they say "county

         11  fairs?" Is it like just a carnival? Can you maybe

         12  elaborate on that?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         14  They have them all over the country. They have all

         15  kinds of foods, they have pig races, something I'm

         16  looking forward to actually. It's a real, all kinds

         17  of events, there are some rides, but it varies.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So it's like a

         19  large carnival and fair to that effect?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: A lot

         21  of farm animals brought in, a lot of events, a lot

         22  of sort of interactive activities with kids, and not

         23  just carnival rides. You know, we do that. We have

         24  those in certain places, but it's not just carnival

         25  rides.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And how would

          3  these funds flow into the Department? Would it go

          4  through I guess from a private contractor that does

          5  the carnival and then flow into the City Parks

          6  Foundation?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes,

          8  there would be a private vendor, they would come in,

          9  and the money would come into the City's general

         10  fund.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Then on a

         12  second question, although it's somewhat related,

         13  after the Astor Levy events, what steps has the

         14  Department done to maybe safeguard the handling of

         15  funds raised through concessions? With the Astor

         16  Levy?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: No, I

         18  understand.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: In

         20  terms of --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Could

         22  you just explain that a little bit more to me?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Well, we

         24  received an audit report of some funds being I guess

         25  --
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Oh,

          3  Astor Levy, oh, the rec center.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: The rec

          6  center. Okay, we have a park in Brooklyn, Astor Levy

          7  Park.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Could

         10  you say the question again? Let me just hear.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I think you

         12  have it now. I guess there were individuals who got

         13  their hands on funds and basically --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: They

         15  were stealing money.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: -- Stealing

         17  money.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: And

         19  they were arrested.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And the

         21  Comptroller's report called for more management

         22  safeguards on behalf of the Department.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We have

         24  set up very strict auditing and accounting rules and

         25  regulations and procedures in the Department. We
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          2  have auditors going out to our rec centers on an

          3  ongoing basis and they're reconciling the accounts

          4  that come in.

          5                 Also, we set up a computer system

          6  that we utilize in the recreation centers, as well

          7  we're doing that. So, we really put that into place

          8  as well.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So the computer

         10  system is a new initiative?

         11                 How many of the things that you

         12  mentioned are new initiatives?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Well,

         14  in terms of the reconciliation and the accounting

         15  systems that we put in place, those have been

         16  revised, and guidelines that we have also been

         17  changed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you.

         19  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         21  much, Council Member Dilan.

         22                 Let me shift gears a little bit to

         23  sponsorships. The Extravaganza, you're saying you

         24  have sponsorships roughly for 12 events a year,

         25  roughly.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

          3  Approximately.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Any plans for

          5  increasing that number for event purposes?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We're

          7  taking a look at the events we currently have. We're

          8  looking at getting them out, more into the other

          9  boroughs. For instance, the Easter and the Halloween

         10  which really has a focus on a Central Park focus.

         11  We're trying to make our events in the outer

         12  boroughs to be like even larger than they are now.

         13                 We do have some events in each of the

         14  boroughs for this, but we're going to make them a

         15  lot larger so we really could spread it out a lot

         16  more --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That would be

         18  great.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: And

         20  have more activities. So that's one of the things

         21  we're going to do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That's as far as

         23  events are concerned. Now, sponsorships, as far as

         24  structures, like for instance KeySpan Park, which is

         25  quite unique for actually the City. How much revenue
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          2  did KeySpan have to pay into the City to get its

          3  name on that stadium.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

          5  KeySpan actually paid the Mets, and in that contract

          6  we're capped at, we don't know what it is because

          7  we're capped at $250,000, that no matter what it is

          8  they get we get the max we could get. We get half of

          9  what they get for the naming rights and sponsorship,

         10  but no more than 250,000 which is adjusted every few

         11  years by the CPI. So, we've always, since it opened

         12  been at the max. We don't get the report of what the

         13  Mets actually get.

         14                 The Mets lease the stadium and they

         15  get that money and they pay us rent.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So, it's

         17  actually the Mets negotiating with KeySpan, not

         18  Parks negotiating with KeySpan.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         20  That's correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Then do you see

         22  Parks moving in a direction of negotiating directly

         23  with the sponsor in the future date, whether it be

         24  for the stadium, whether it be for park property?

         25  You know, we spoke a little bit about adopt a park,
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          2  which will be also a topic of conversation at our

          3  next Parks hearing; do you see going in that

          4  direction?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We're

          6  looking at naming rights, and possibly where we have

          7  new facilities and we're looking for additional

          8  capital funds to help it along, and those are the

          9  kind of places that we'd be looking for things like

         10  that where we would have naming rights with

         11  sponsors.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Naming rights in

         13  the sense of a particular park area of an existing

         14  park?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It

         16  could be in a park, but it would probably be a

         17  facility in a park, for instance maybe like a track,

         18  a track facility or maybe a swimming facility that

         19  was new.

         20                 We're not looking to changing a name

         21  of an existing facility or changing a park name in

         22  doing that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Great. And you

         24  would just acknowledge it would be either some type

         25  of placard or a sign?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes. It

          3  would have to be very sensitive, whatever the sign

          4  is, and we'd be definitely open in terms of what we

          5  were doing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Exactly. And you

          7  would say that these discussions have increased over

          8  time?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes.

         10  They have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Correct?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: They

         13  have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         15  thank you.

         16                 I don't know if there are any other

         17  questions from my colleagues.

         18                 One last question I have, Van

         19  Cortlandt Park, obviously, is a very big issue at

         20  this point, there being a golf course there.

         21                 What would be the future of that golf

         22  course in the concessionaire, with considering the

         23  project going or proposed project going on at Van

         24  Cortlandt Park?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:
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          2  It's Mosholu Golf Course, it isn't Van Cortlandt

          3  Park.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: There's

          5  two golf courses. One is Van Cortlandt Golf Course,

          6  which will not be touched, but it's the nine-hole

          7  golf course where there's a first tee facility,

          8  which is in Mosholu, which is the one that Joanne --

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         10  Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Which is still,

         12  again, it's still concessions, part of the Parks

         13  concessions, correct?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         15  It's a concession and we're going to try to keep it

         16  open, particularly the first tee program, which are

         17  programs to teach kids how to play golf, and the

         18  driving range will be out of commission for five

         19  years once they do it, and after the work is

         20  completed on the plant, they' rehabilitate the whole

         21  course, including the driving range. As I understand

         22  it, you would have to have only the driving range on

         23  top of the plant.

         24                 But we're going to try to keep it

         25  functioning as best we can while they're doing the
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          2  construction, if, in fact, that's where they do it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right, it's a

          4  five-year construction. You're saying at the end of

          5  five years obviously everything goes back to normal

          6  so-to-speak, back at that park?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: It

          8  will be better because they'll rehabilitate the

          9  whole course, they'll redo everything.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: While the

         11  project is going on the driving range is out, and

         12  obviously a slight inconvenience, to an extent, with

         13  the actual course?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         15  Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: For five years.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: The

         18  nine-hole course hopefully will mostly function.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: The nine-hole

         20  course would remain open.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We hope

         22  to remain, to keep it open.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         24                 Council Member Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair. I just have one area I just wanted to inquire

          3  about, given all that has already been covered. But

          4  permits for use of Parks Department grounds and

          5  property by leagues and, you know, non-governmental

          6  organizations, about how, like professional

          7  basketball leagues, professional baseball leagues

          8  that use our recreation or our ball fields; what is

          9  the revenue from that permitting roughly?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I don't

         11  have it offhand. I know we just increased our

         12  ballfield permits and that's going to increase, it's

         13  increasing by 500,000 this year, and it will

         14  increase by another 100,000 next year. That's the

         15  increase. We can get you what the number is in terms

         16  of the dollars.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So whatever

         18  the baseline is, it will in 500,000 more.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: This

         20  year 500,000 more, next year 600,000 more, because

         21  we raised the rate slightly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Are there

         23  differential rates from categories of groups? Do

         24  youth groups get a rate that is less?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It's
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          2  free for youth under 18 years old.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It's

          5  free for youth using the fields. We don't charge

          6  them at all.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That includes

          8  little leagues and --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Like many,

         11  your policy is different from that of, ironically of

         12  the school system, but we won't get into that into

         13  this hearing.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We

         15  don't want to charge kids for playing ball.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And is the

         17  permitting, then the adult level, is the permitting,

         18  is there a differential between non-profit, you

         19  know, amateur or athletics or organizations and

         20  commercial enterprises of someone that --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It's

         22  the same price in terms of all those -- I mean, the

         23  fields are, basically it's an $8 permit for a field,

         24  and --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: $8 per use?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Sorry,

          3  it's $16 for baseball, and that's for a two and a

          4  half hour time slot.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So a season

          6  would be 16 a week, you'd figure, what, 20 weeks to

          7  a season or so for an adult league? That's not very

          8  much to be able for --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I mean,

         10  $16 --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON  -- for

         12  corporate lawyer leagues, which I --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: It's a

         14  great deal. Even with us charging more money now, we

         15  increased the fees recently. It's still essentially

         16  a great deal.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: All right. I

         18  just would urge in difficult financial times if that

         19  might be one area to look into, in terms of possible

         20  increases.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We just

         22  raised it from -- I mean, it was so low.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: The

         25  ballfield permits, they used to be like a dollar,
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          2  and it was up to $8 last year. We've raised it up to

          3  $16, so we doubled it this year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: And the

          6  one thing we have done, in Central Park we did do an

          7  RFP for some of the fields, and we got additional

          8  money for a certain amount of fields in Central

          9  Park, and we just felt we could generate more money.

         10                 So, that was a way to generate more

         11  money. That's the only place we've even done that or

         12  tried to do that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And the

         14  revenues from this source put into a special one or

         15  just into the general department?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Okay,

         17  I'd be interested in getting the information I

         18  requested earlier, in terms of the total amount

         19  that's taken in and kind of the breakdown, so if you

         20  can get that to the Committee or to myself, I'd

         21  appreciate it.

         22                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         24  much, Council Member Gerson.

         25                 Just generally speaking about
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          2  concessions, how much, if anything, does the

          3  Department get to keep? I know most of the general,

          4  most of it goes back to the general fund, except

          5  with the exception of the recreational centers,

          6  which was historic, which was the fact that the

          7  parks got to keep some of that fee there. But

          8  generally speaking of concessions and the revenue

          9  taken in, how much does the Parks Department see at

         10  all?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: By

         12  law it has to go to the general fund, but Office of

         13  Management and Budget, when they're looking at cuts,

         14  will give us a dollar amount, a target, and the more

         15  revenue we can bring in, the less it impacts our

         16  staff. So, in terms of keeping the agency operating

         17  as good a level as possible, it's very important.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

         19  Essentially, special events also we get a million

         20  dollars for the event money that we bring in. We

         21  bring in approximately $2 million on a special

         22  event, and that has risen over the last year. But

         23  what Commissioner Imohiosen is saying essentially is

         24  over the course of the last few years, basically OMB

         25  has been very receptive in terms of any kind of
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          2  revenue increases that we have brought in, the fact

          3  that they have like given us reductions in our

          4  budget, any budget cuts that we've had. So that in a

          5  sense has helped us. In previous years it was much

          6  tougher, now if we say we're going to bring in a

          7  certain amount of money in terms of revenue, they've

          8  lowered our targets and that's been very helpful to

          9  us.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So then for both

         11  the residents of the City and for the Department of

         12  Parks and Recreation, it would be best if the

         13  Department would actually possibly look to promote

         14  especially events a little bit more, correct?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

         16  Absolutely.

         17                 Providing, you know, again, special

         18  events that they are not going to have too much of a

         19  major impact on the park or you're not going to do

         20  too many in certain places. We do do a lot of

         21  special events, have a list of special events that

         22  we do, and we have everything from Walk-a-Thons,

         23  races, some small concerts, sometimes some big

         24  concerts, and we really have to be careful in terms

         25  of over-producing events in certain facilities,
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          2  because we do work with companies and they do want

          3  to do, they want to do photo shoots, they want to do

          4  a commercial, they want to do something totally

          5  commercial with us, and they'll want to do it at,

          6  you know, a certain park, and that can just like

          7  overload a particular park, so we try to be very

          8  careful about that. But, yes, we are very open for

          9  those kind of things. We're looking at potentially

         10  what you were talking about in concerts, concerts in

         11  certain park locations, and we're negotiating with

         12  some people in terms of doing that, and that's

         13  something we're open for doing and hopefully that

         14  would bring money into the City, into the Parks

         15  Department.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Any other

         17  questions at this point from our colleagues?

         18                 At this point I want to thank

         19  Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner, Assistant

         20  Commissioner, thank you very much for being here.

         21  Thank you for the Parks Department team. If you

         22  don't mind, one other request I would like to make

         23  is, if I can get a list of the total number of

         24  concessions?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:
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          2  We'll run that for you, it's about 500 pages. We're

          3  happy to run it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Great. Tom will

          5  make copies. I appreciate that. Thank you very much.

          6  And if you don't mind, if somebody can stay down,

          7  because I know we have questions, obviously, from

          8  our future panelists. Thank you very much.

          9                 At this point I'm going to be calling

         10  panels to give testimony. Each person will be

         11  limited to two minutes to allow time to hear

         12  everyone and for questions and answers.

         13                 Council Members who did not vote

         14  earlier on the Reso, please go down and sign.

         15  Council Member Gerson and Council Member Serrano,

         16  just for the record, on Reso 659 could you just

         17  state your vote, please?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I vote yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. Just

         20  remember to go down and sign.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: The first panel

         24  of witnesses, Arnold Rothstein, from Tennis

         25  Advocates of Prospect Park; Allison Farina from New
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          2  Yorkers for Parks; and Jennifer Browne from TAPP,

          3  Tapp. Please come forward.

          4                 Please hand in your written testimony

          5  that you have. Please state your name for the record

          6  and give your testimony.

          7                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: Arnold Rothstein. We

          8  appreciate you holding this hearing. It's quite

          9  important to our community, as representative Clarke

         10  very succinctly pointed out.

         11                 We are addressing the general issue,

         12  and we are focusing on a single concession, or

         13  actually two, when you extend it out to the licenses

         14  held by the principal. In the matter of the

         15  Department of Parks and Recreation license B73-IT,

         16  the concessionaire, Prospect Park Tennis Group,

         17  Incorporated, Principal Carol Tinella, which

         18  upgrades Park View Tennis Center, has violated the

         19  license agreement for more than five years.

         20                 It has failed to comply in the face

         21  of 14 notices to cure and two notices of

         22  termination. I point out that in the first 27 months

         23  of the license, there were 17 late payments of a

         24  license fee, and three bad checks.

         25                 It has failed to comply in the face
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          2  of 14 notices to cure and two notices of

          3  termination.

          4                 The Department of Parks has failed to

          5  enforce all these notices. The concessionaire, in

          6  addition to not meeting its bid commitment to make a

          7  minimum of $910,000 capital improvement has violated

          8  in total all provisions requiring it to provide

          9  community programs, discounts of 40 to 50 percent to

         10  public schools, senior citizens discounts, and a

         11  great deal more such as required scholarships.

         12                 I point out that the corporations,

         13  the scholarship givers, if you will, to the children

         14  in need who do get the opportunity to play at this

         15  facility, are the community. We are the

         16  scholarships, although it is required by the license

         17  agreement.

         18                 The concessionaires made no capital

         19  improvements at all and has defied the

         20  recommendations of the audit of the concessions by

         21  the Comptroller's Office in 2000. The financial

         22  submitted in bidding for the license were patently

         23  inadequately to expect an ability to comply, if one

         24  cares to review them.

         25                 The Department of Parks has not only
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          2  failed to enforce its orders to cure and orders of

          3  termination, it entered into negotiation several

          4  months ago with the purpose of extending the license

          5  period for five years. Quite a hefty reward for

          6  flagrant non-compliance. The fact that to this day

          7  no one has held either party accountable is

          8  outrageous. After almost six years of drawing lines

          9  in the sand, Parks has given the concessionaire a

         10  new deadline. Although it has demonstrated its

         11  callousness in ensuring revenues according to

         12  license, Parks has seen fit to double the City

         13  tennis permits to $100.

         14                 They must be held accountable. The

         15  concessionaire immediately should be terminated for

         16  cause, a comprehensive audit of both licenses held

         17  by Carol Tinella should be launched requiring

         18  cancelled checks, documentation, et cetera.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Rothstein?

         20                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: I make note of the

         21  fact that when the concessionaire took possession in

         22  the first few months, in alleged preparation to rent

         23  the club house, concessionaire got permission from

         24  Parks to take down the grandstand.

         25                 To those of us who have been going
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          2  there for a number of years, the grandstand was a

          3  point of congregation, it seated a couple hundred

          4  comfortably, on the weekend you could read someone

          5  else's time, everyone brought coffee, some of us

          6  went and got lunch, came back and played. This was

          7  taken down and in place we were given a shack which

          8  has been there for six years.

          9                 In the matter of the financial crisis

         10  we enjoy, so-to-speak, our City and its citizens

         11  cannot afford cash cow concessions to be blatantly

         12  milked endlessly, and license B73-IT, in my opinion

         13  and in the opinion of many others, is merely the tip

         14  of the iceberg.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Rothstein, I

         16  have a question. Did you relate your obvious

         17  displeasure to the Department of Parks and

         18  Recreation? If so, when and how?

         19                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: We became privy to a

         20  hearing of the Joint Committee to pass a resolution,

         21  I assume, to extend the contract.

         22                 We became privy mid-January. We

         23  organized into a community group and we named

         24  ourselves TAPP, Tennis Advocates for Prospect Park,

         25  and we wrote letters, e-mails, addressing this, and
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          2  not only to parks but into the Borough President, to

          3  Comptroller's Office, to all the branches of the

          4  agencies that sit on that Committee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, did TAPP

          6  do anything in writing to Department of Parks and

          7  Recreation? If so, when?

          8                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: TAPP formally, on a

          9  letterhead so-to-speak?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes.

         11                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         13                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: Individuals who are

         14  members of the group and individuals in general, in

         15  the community, wrote letters and expressed their

         16  experiences over a six-year period.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: A comprehensive

         18  writing on your letterhead.

         19                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: We don't have a

         20  letterhead.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         22                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: We are a very informal

         23  group that came together at a time of what we felt

         24  was crisis.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: There should be
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          2  a single person who represents TAPP, correct? A

          3  single person, president, some type of --

          4                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: We do have someone who

          5  has written on behalf of our group.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. Do we know

          7  when?

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

          9  On January 10th of this year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: January 2003.

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         12  Yes.

         13                 And several letters each month have

         14  flowed in in the form of e-mail, certified mail --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, I got you.

         16  So, certified mail, and let's see if Mr. Rothstein

         17  knows this one, any response from the Department of

         18  Parks and Recreation?

         19                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: In writing? No. None

         20  that I can think of offhand.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, well,

         22  certainly your written testimony and your issue has

         23  been made record of this Committee. We will have

         24  discussions or forward some type of correspondence

         25  to the Department, and hopefully, you can get some
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          2  type of response at that point. But this Committee

          3  will definitely see to it that we forward your issue

          4  to the Department.

          5                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: It's appreciated. I

          6  provided some of the letters that were sent in that

          7  time frame, early February, and some other material.

          8  I called to the attention of the Committee the

          9  absolute urgency of this issue, that it has dragged

         10  out in the face of blatant violations a total

         11  disregard for every aspect of the license for six

         12  years. And the tool that has been used is time.

         13                 If we get into the latter part of the

         14  spring, summer, we're in another year of who is

         15  going to put up a bubble in the fall, there's no

         16  time to put a proposal out there for new

         17  concessionaires.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, we'll see

         19  if we can do it in a timely manner.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Rothstein.

         21                 MR. ROTHSTEIN: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: If you would.

         23                 MS. BROWNE: Hello. My name is

         24  Jennifer Browne, and I also represent TAPP. I was

         25  wondering if I could respectfully request that I
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          2  cede my time to one of my younger colleagues?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Sure.

          4                 MS. BROWNE: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Just state your

          6  name, please.

          7                 MS. DAVOUDI: Janet Davoudi. Tennis is

          8  an important part of my life. Family, friends,

          9  school and tennis are my life. I enjoy playing

         10  tennis because it keeps me safe, mentally and

         11  physically. I feel a family at the tennis center.

         12  After a game of tennis, win or lose, I feel a sense

         13  of accomplishment. After playing a game of tennis at

         14  the Park View Tennis Center, I sometimes feel sad

         15  because the courts and the facilities are not

         16  maintained properly. The person who runs the courts

         17  does not care about the people who play on the

         18  courts.

         19                 The concrete is showing under the

         20  surface of the courts. There are raised lines, which

         21  make it dangerous to play. The bubble is always

         22  freezing, so I cannot enjoy tennis. There are no

         23  changing spaces and the bathrooms are so small.

         24                 The bathroom recently had showers put

         25  inside them. How can you take a shower when someone
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          2  wants to go to the bathroom? There is really no

          3  place to rest. I have many friends who also enjoy

          4  playing tennis.

          5                 The owner was supposed to give

          6  scholarships, discounted rates to students and

          7  senior citizens. There is no way a disabled person

          8  can get inside the facility.

          9                 My mom found out that the owner,

         10  Carol Tinella, told the Borough President that I got

         11  a scholarship. I never received a scholarship. My

         12  mom is the only provider in my family, it is assumed

         13  that she used my name and someone else's name about

         14  giving scholarships.

         15                 Tennis is important to me. It's

         16  obvious that tennis, tennis players in the

         17  community, are not important to Carol Tinella. She

         18  ignores us and her obligations to the City over and

         19  over. Stop the lying. Stop the cheating. Most of

         20  all, let's have fun again and feel good about

         21  playing tennis.

         22                 Thank you for your time. Thank you

         23  for caring about me and my friends and correct the

         24  wrongs at Park View Tennis Center. This means a lot

         25  to me, my friends and their families. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Well done. I

          3  would like to believe that your time here -- it was

          4  Diana, correct?

          5                 MS. DAVOUDI: Deanna. I'm sorry.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: No, that's okay,

          7  don't be sorry. I would like to believe, Deanna,

          8  that your time here today is not wasted. That

          9  basically your testimony which is now a record of

         10  this Committee, that we can forward this

         11  information, and hopefully something could be done,

         12  okay? So, I would hope for you to believe, again,

         13  like myself, that your time here is not wasted

         14  today.

         15                 MS. DAVOUDI: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         17  much. I appreciate it.

         18                 Okay, you may speak.

         19                 MS. BROWNE: I am a life-long resident

         20  of Park Slope and a teacher in Brownsville for 11

         21  years.

         22                 I have played tennis at Prospect Park

         23  since 1984. I apologize for not having copies of my

         24  statements for you, due to the short notice of this

         25  hearing.
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          2                 I have brought seven members of high

          3  school Redirections Models City Council Team with me

          4  to witness City government in action. In my

          5  classroom, our discussions often involve comparisons

          6  of what the law says and what the law actually does.

          7  We have just that situation with the concessionaire

          8  at Prospect Park Courts.

          9                 She has failed to comply with her

         10  contract in a period of ways, as Mr. Rothstein

         11  outlined, but I feel the most egregious example is

         12  failing to provide three lessons on scholarships to

         13  disadvantaged youth in the community. By renting out

         14  the courts at regular prices, she is blocking

         15  youngsters the chance to get off the street in a

         16  safe environment and work towards competing in

         17  tournaments at distant locals and winning

         18  scholarships at universities.

         19                 As an educator, I understand how

         20  invaluable sports and the values they can teach can

         21  be to a student's life. As a resident, a ran a

         22  tournament in summer 2001 which raised $5,000 for

         23  tennis lessons for disadvantaged youth. The Prospect

         24  Park community is one that is aching to grow its

         25  tennis opportunities. This concessionaire has turned
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          2  her back on the responsibilities and must be held

          3  accountable to the terms of her contract.

          4                 If she cannot, or is unwilling to

          5  meet them, the Parks Department should terminate her

          6  contract and bid it out so the tennis courts could

          7  become the jewel it has the potential to become.

          8                 Protect the children of the

          9  neighborhood from those interested in profiting off

         10  the park rather than contributing to the health and

         11  welfare of the communities.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         14  Browne.

         15                 We have questions from our Council

         16  members. Council Member Foster and then Council

         17  Member Jackson.

         18                 Council Member Foster.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Actually I

         20  have a comment. If you could relay back to Deanna,

         21  first of all, I thank her for her testimony. That

         22  takes a lot of courage.

         23                 Number two, I would request that as a

         24  committee that we stay on top of this, because

         25  especially I have a tennis court, like I said, in my
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          2  district, that my community doesn't use, because

          3  they don't have access to it, however you want to

          4  paint the picture, and here we have a concessionaire

          5  that clearly isn't living up to the terms of the

          6  contract and it seems like we keep going back and

          7  forth, and I think the time of giving

          8  concessionaires the benefit of the doubt is over and

          9  that we, as a Committee, follow up on this. Because

         10  as we heard from the residents, it is gone on -- I

         11  wasn't aware of it, I thought it was something

         12  short-term, but six years is long enough to figure

         13  out and fix any problems.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Foster.

         16                 Council Member Jackson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. Chair, I

         18  assumed that the individuals that have come forward

         19  and gave witness to testimony regarding the

         20  conditions of the tennis courts and the alleged

         21  failures of the concessionaire to live up to

         22  agreement, I assume these people are coming here

         23  telling the truth, and especially the little girl

         24  that recently gave testimony, she spoke I think just

         25  as well as anyone could, concerning, you know, how
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          2  she feels about tennis and the conditions of the

          3  facilities, and I'm appalled that the Parks

          4  Department, it appears to me, has not taken care of

          5  business. Really.

          6                 And as a member of the Committee,

          7  Chair Addabbo, I know that you're going to have our

          8  counsel prepare a letter expressing our

          9  disappointment as to the alleged failures of the

         10  Parks Department.

         11                 And I say alleged because, you know,

         12  I assume that you're telling the truth. But you

         13  know, I know that there's two sides to every story,

         14  but, you know, it is not, sitting here as a member

         15  of this Committee, knowing that a contract is a

         16  contract that you live up to, and if the one party

         17  is not living up to the agreement, and I am the

         18  Parks Department, then I'm going to terminate that

         19  contract and reopen the bid for someone else that

         20  can do the job.

         21                 Now, unless there is more to it than

         22  that, and if that's the case, maybe we should have

         23  the Committee on Investigation to see if there is

         24  some other situation going on here.

         25                 If not, then maybe the Parks
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          2  Department needs to come back and say to us --

          3  really, they need to come, and there's a

          4  representative from the Parks Department here; is

          5  that correct? Who is representing the Department?

          6  Maybe you need to come back and just communicate and

          7  tell us specifically about this situation, why it

          8  appears that the allegations put forward, and I know

          9  there's two stories, but they have raised a lot of

         10  serious allegations. You would agree with that.

         11  Please look into it, Mr. Chair Addabbo. They should

         12  not have to come to an oversight hearing to address

         13  their concerns like they are addressing, because it

         14  appears as though that they have attempted to

         15  address this situation, and in their opinion have

         16  not been effectively dealt with. That's what clearly

         17  appears on the face of it. And that doesn't please

         18  me at all as a member of this Committee.

         19                 And I know that we have oversight,

         20  and obviously, you know, if I was them I would try

         21  to address it with the Parks Department first, and

         22  then if not, they have no other choice but to come

         23  to us as oversight bodies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Exactly, Council

         25  Member Jackson.

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Obviously,

          3  it's without a doubt. And I am a tennis player.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Obviously, Mr.

          5  Rothstein, Ms. Browne, and definitely Deanna brought

          6  up an issue that cannot be ignored, and this

          7  Committee will have discussions with the Department

          8  of Parks and Recreation.

          9                 Any response from the Department

         10  regarding this issue will be conveyed to this

         11  Committee, to its members and to the public. So, we

         12  will definitely have conversations with the

         13  Department. Like Council Member Jackson said, and it

         14  is a good point, we have to hear every side, and,

         15  obviously we heard the public side, and obviously

         16  there is an issue, and that issue will be addressed.

         17                 I tell you that as Chair of this

         18  Committee, this issue will be addressed by this

         19  Committee, by its members and with the Department.

         20                 I appreciate the Department's

         21  cooperation on this effort as well, and as soon as

         22  we get a response, the public will get a response.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 MS. BROWNE: Thank you. And we welcome

         25  the call for an investigation by Council Member
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          2  Jackson.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Exactly right.

          4                 Our next witness.

          5                 MS. FARINA: Hi. My name is Allison

          6  Farina, and I'm the Director of Government and

          7  Community Affairs at New Yorkers for Parks. I'm here

          8  in support of concession reform for the Parks

          9  Department.

         10                 Thank you, Chairman Addabbo, for

         11  scheduling this hearing to address such a pressing

         12  issue.

         13                 Before any concessionary reform

         14  occurs, it's imperative that checks be put into

         15  place to safeguard parks against possible

         16  over-commercialization, as well as to ensure

         17  appropriate public input on local concession

         18  initiatives when applicable.

         19                 It's also very important that

         20  concession reform results in a net gain to the

         21  Department of Parks' budget which is cut annually.

         22                 Concessions cannot become to DPR what

         23  the New York Lotto is to education, a substitute for

         24  other funds.

         25                 The reform process must mandate a
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          2  floor level of DPR funding, and the equitable

          3  allocation of concession revenue must be addressed.

          4  How much revenue returns to the park hosting the

          5  concession, and how much revenue should be diverted

          6  to other parks in need that don't necessarily have

          7  the ability to host more lucrative concessions.

          8                 New York City can look to other park

          9  systems for examples of dedicated concession

         10  revenues.

         11                 The National Park Service, for

         12  example, allows 80 percent of fees to return to the

         13  park in which they were generated, with the

         14  remaining 20 percent apportioned to parks that

         15  generate less revenue.

         16                 While the New York State Office of

         17  Parks diverts leasing and licensing revenues to a

         18  separate park infrastructure fund, which is kept

         19  specifically for park improvements.

         20                 Municipal park systems such as

         21  Portland, Chicago, and San Francisco have similar

         22  dedication concession revenue sources. In

         23  conclusion, New Yorkers for Parks believes the

         24  Council has the ability to reform Parks concessions

         25  and we urge the Parks Committee to take the lead on
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          2  such reform through legislative action.

          3                 However, to be successful, the

          4  legislation should, one, avoid the

          5  over-commercialization of parks; two, determine the

          6  percentage of concessions revenue that will go

          7  directly to the Department of Parks instead of the

          8  City's general fund; and, three, and finally,

          9  guarantee that the concession money does not

         10  compensate for further budget cuts but prevents

         11  layoffs, park closings and increases in program

         12  fees.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Ms. Farina,

         15  thank you very much.

         16                 I was very happy to hear in prior

         17  testimony Assistant Commissioner for the Department

         18  say that the Department is open to ideas to requests

         19  or proposals, and by all means if New Yorkers for

         20  Parks has an idea, has a proposal, or a request,

         21  please forward it to me, and obviously we will open

         22  that up to any credible park group or individual out

         23  there who has an idea.

         24                 A lot of the time the ideas are not

         25  formed within the walls of this hall, but it is
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          2  outside these walls, and we need to listen to those

          3  ideas, and we're going to open up obviously our

          4  doors for any ideas, proposals that may be out

          5  there, so if your group New Yorkers for Parks has

          6  any of which, forward it to me, please.

          7                 MS. FARINA: Okay, thanks so much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ABBADDO: Thank you, Ms.

          9  Farina.

         10                 Any questions?

         11                 Thank you very much for your time and

         12  testimony.

         13                 Our next panel of three is Cheryl

         14  Haywood; Jane Herrick; and Samuel Sporn.

         15                 Thank you very much. If you will

         16  state your name, please, and give your testimony,

         17  please.

         18                 MS. HAYWOOD: Cheryl Haywood. Good

         19  afternoon, Mr. Addabbo, other members of the New

         20  York City Council Committee on Parks and Recreation.

         21                 I'm delighted to be here today, and

         22  I'm hoping that at the conclusion of my statement

         23  you'll be willing to ask some questions that could

         24  shed light on Parks' failure to properly monitor

         25  this concession.
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          2                 I have to say at the outset that it

          3  was very interesting to hear the testimony of Ms.

          4  Imohiosen with respect Parks' efficient follow-up of

          5  the Comptroller's recommendations that are made in

          6  the audit.

          7                 To date, more than 20 months have

          8  passed and Parks has failed to follow up the

          9  enforcement of the recommendations of a 2001 annual

         10  report of the Comptroller's Office, and I think this

         11  is really egregious. This really speaks to the

         12  ineffectiveness of Parks to monitor these

         13  concessions, to enforce agreements that they enter

         14  into with private individuals for profit.

         15                 I'm just going to briefly tell you

         16  some of the things in the licensing agreement that

         17  have been violated nearly since the inception of

         18  this contract include timely payments of license

         19  fees. We heard from Ms. Imohiosen, and I'm just

         20  going to paraphrase basically. She said we basically

         21  get rid of concessionaires who are chronically late.

         22  We talk to them. We send them notices to cure. And

         23  if they don't get with the program, we get rid of

         24  them.

         25                 I'm going to read to you a letter
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          2  that Ms. Imohiosen wrote to this concessionaire in

          3  2000 that I received in a FOIL request, where she

          4  tells the concessionaire that this is the 17th

          5  monthly payment that's late in 22 months. This

          6  contract began in August of 1997. This year the

          7  concessionaires paid three out of four months late.

          8  Last year she paid the majority of the months late.

          9                 I take issue with respect to Ms.

         10  Imohiosen's statement that Parks is on top of this

         11  through when Councilwoman Brewer asked, can we

         12  expect that when you make a deadline for approval

         13  the plans will be met? Oh, yes. The plans for this

         14  facility were supposed to have been completed in the

         15  Year 1998. Final approval was obtained in the Year

         16  2001. So, I caution Councilwoman Brewer to adopting

         17  and believing the statement of Parks, that, yes,

         18  we're going to follow up on this in a rapid way,

         19  because that's not been the experience of TAPP.

         20                 We've been complaining in a general

         21  way about this concession for six years, and when we

         22  learned that Parks was going to extend this license

         23  agreement by three to five years, we were just

         24  simply outraged. We cannot accept Parks' word. They

         25  have not been accountable to the public. They owe
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          2  accountability. It's the component part of

          3  responsibility. If you're going to have a concession

          4  and you're going to monitor them, then you must be

          5  willing to tell the public how you are dealing with

          6  things like the fact that we found out that this

          7  concession was uninsured for a period of nearly

          8  three months last year, during the most risky phase

          9  of this operation when she erected an unstable

         10  temporary bubble stretcher over ten courts,

         11  completely uninsured. We told Parks about this. What

         12  had the concessionaire done? She filed a certificate

         13  of insurance with Parks that was not in effect at a

         14  time when she knew she had not paid for this

         15  insurance.

         16                 We notified Parks about this on March

         17  14th. I sent a letter to Mr. Oliveri (phonetic) on

         18  the 21st. I have not heard one thing from him.

         19                 I have telephoned his office on a

         20  regular basis over the last ten days. I can't even

         21  get a telephone call back from him.

         22                 Parks has failed to comply with FOIL

         23  requests, I have been denied my rights under Freedom

         24  of Information Law and all the members of TAPP and

         25  the public have been denied this, and I think the
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          2  reason is because this is a cover-up of their

          3  ineptness. I frankly give them a grade of an F. This

          4  concession is an embarrassment. It is soiled, it is

          5  dirty, it is simply everything it should not be, and

          6  it's time that Parks stop writing letters to this

          7  concession begging the concessionaire please comply

          8  with the agreement.

          9                 This is a letter of November 6, 2002,

         10  referencing again the fact that the concessionaire

         11  never instituted the controls that were recommended

         12  to him in the audit. How long can we wait? This is a

         13  $600 a year revenue grossing business, she does not

         14  even have a cash register.

         15                 We know, and we've demonstrated, and

         16  we've proven to Parks and we've shown this to the

         17  Comptroller that she doesn't even report her vending

         18  commission.

         19                 What does this tell you? Does it tell

         20  you that she's accurately reporting her other

         21  concession gross receipts? It tells you that she is

         22  a cheat, she is not correctly reporting her revenue,

         23  she is not complying with the non-revenue

         24  requirements of the contracts. It's really a shame,

         25  it's just a disgrace. And I'm sorry that the people
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          2  from Parks left with one representative left here to

          3  answer questions, that I am sure she is not prepared

          4  to handle, because this box can't handle all the

          5  questions. This box I walk along with tells you

          6  someone has got the answers to why this

          7  concessionaire gets treated differently.

          8                 I respectfully report Council

          9  Jackson's recommendation that this goes to the

         10  Council on investigation, because I think it's

         11  smelly here, and we don't have to put up with it

         12  anymore, the public should require accountability of

         13  Parks and you should demand it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Ms. Haywood,

         15  Thank you very much for your testimony and for being

         16  here today.

         17                 MS. HAYWOOD: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Obviously I

         19  think we would all agree this is not an issue that

         20  was going to be answered today, no matter who was

         21  here, but this will be an issue that we will

         22  definitely take up with the Department and in answer

         23  we'll get back to you somehow, whether it be by

         24  letter or by phone call, but there will be an

         25  answer, this will be addressed.

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 MS. HAYWOOD: I appreciate your

          3  interest, and I am sure it is a committed one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you very much, Ms. Haywood.

          6                 Next.

          7                 MS. HERRICK: My name is Jane Herrick.

          8  My friends at TAPP have given me leeway because one

          9  of Deana's friends and competitors has to get to her

         10  4:00 lesson.

         11                 We, my husband and I, are extremely

         12  concerned about how the parking attendants center

         13  facility is maintained and managed. Hard-earned

         14  income by our family is being spent without adequate

         15  or safe maintenance of the physical plan.

         16                 We are committed to the ongoing

         17  positive vitality Brooklyn offers. Quality of life

         18  is where our concerns begin in a choice of

         19  residents.

         20                 In this situation we are asking

         21  nothing of the City of New York, other than respect

         22  for the continuing vibrancy of this culturally and

         23  economically diverse borough.

         24                 The City's obligation is to monitor

         25  and assess its vendors and enforce compliance with a
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          2  contractual obligation. We are not asking for money.

          3  We are not asking for personnel. My husband has been

          4  playing at Park View for over five years, our

          5  daughter now 12 began at the age of six, and

          6  currently plays at least twice a week. This includes

          7  one private, one-hour lesson, with a pro on Monday,

          8  junior development clinic on Fridays from 3:30 to

          9  5:00, which is followed by match play from six to

         10  7:30 organized by the pros.

         11                 In addition to these, she plays on

         12  her spare time. One might ask then why would we

         13  continue to play at Park View? Well, it's sad to

         14  say, but it's the only game in town.

         15                 While I have paid for the Junior

         16  Development Clinic up front, Ms. Tinella has not

         17  paid her pros teaching that program.

         18                 Despite the disrespect Ms. Tinella

         19  shows to hard-working and committed Brooklynites,

         20  meaning the pros, they continue to show up, continue

         21  with their obligations in a responsible manner, and

         22  remain loyal to the children by giving their best.

         23                 I pay in good faith, Ms. Tinella must

         24  then in good faith pay them. It is absolutely

         25  staggering the professionals have been treated like
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          2  this, and that the City remains complicitive in this

          3  arrangement.

          4                 Several times over the past several

          5  years I have been told that not only has a pro not

          6  received money, but checks issued have bounced.

          7                 Conditions of the ladies room.

          8  Finished work on shower stall never completed. I was

          9  scratched by exposed edges. Other ongoing problems

         10  include no hot water, no soap, filthy conditions,

         11  black mold on the ceiling, no functional lock on the

         12  door and no working lights. The temperature has been

         13  discussed.

         14                 Another problem is that the interior

         15  perimeter of the entire bubble remains damp, if not

         16  soaking wet all of the time, continuing to ruin ball

         17  after ball during play.

         18                 The trailer. There was a running leak

         19  in the common sink all during Mayor Bloomberg's

         20  drought emergency.

         21                 The filthy carpeting is ripped,

         22  making it hazardous. Improper drainage at the

         23  entrance to the trailer causes flooding on rainy

         24  days, making entering this trailer a game of

         25  hop-scotch.
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          2                 Now that the indoor season is coming

          3  to close, Ms. Tinella has made no arrangements for

          4  refunding my money for my prepaid clinic for my

          5  daughter. What can I say, this, it's disgusting, and

          6  that we have to come here and continue to fight. And

          7  also, by the way, not all ten courts go to the

          8  public during the summer. Two of the courts remain

          9  under her auspices where she is gaining money from

         10  those earnings. In return for that she supposedly is

         11  maintaining the rest of the courts.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ABBADDO: Okay.

         13                 MS. HERRICK: It's not true.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ABBADDO: Mrs. Herrick, I

         15  appreciate your frustration and your written

         16  testimony. Thank you very much.

         17                 Mr. Sporn.

         18                 MR. SPORN: Good afternoon. My name is

         19  Samuel P. Sporn. I'm a lifelong resident of

         20  Brooklyn. And I think probably I can say this

         21  without fear of contradiction, I played in more

         22  public parks in the City of New York, indoor and

         23  outdoor, than anybody in this room. Maybe anyone

         24  alive. But in any event, as a matter of fact, I met

         25  my wife on a blind date at Bay 8th Street in a
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          2  public park. It's incontestable that the operation

          3  of Parkview Tennis Center is abominable, and it

          4  contravenes the license agreement and is a blight on

          5  one of the crown jewels of New York City.

          6                 Now, seldom has the granting of a

          7  park's license served to diminish the facility. Here

          8  it has, as Mr. Rothstein said, concrete stands that

          9  were excellent, they were demolished and so the

         10  whole atmosphere was wrecked at that point.

         11                 The club house which was promised

         12  never done, and what's now, excuse the expression,

         13  to me is a modified house, and it's not fair, it's

         14  not right, and I fully hope that this Committee,

         15  maybe even Investigations, because I must concur,

         16  that there's something wrong in the state of Denmark

         17  here.

         18                 Now, if the Parkview Tennis is what I

         19  consider as being treated as stepchild, the

         20  Department of Parks to me is a neglectful parent.

         21  And if this were in real life, they would be hauled

         22  before the Family Court, and admonished and maybe

         23  even sanctioned in a better way.

         24                 Now, here is an opportunity for the

         25  City to make money with a responsible operator.
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          2  Instead, all of these folks here, including myself,

          3  we're frustrated, we're ashamed. I wouldn't bring

          4  someone outside of Brooklyn to play there, because

          5  to me it's denigrating. I love the parks, I love our

          6  tennis facilities. In fact this Sunday I was at Fort

          7  Green with my grandchild playing there, which is a

          8  wonderful facility. I played there hundreds and

          9  hundreds of times. I'm proud of it because there's

         10  an attendant there, there's someone policing,

         11  there's a social atmosphere of people on park

         12  benches watching. This has an opportunity now that

         13  is in your hands.

         14                 I admonish the Department of Parks.

         15  We can't do more. It's up to you to see that this

         16  gets done.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Sporn. Well done.

         20                 Council Member Jackson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, I heard

         22  either -- I think the prior individual gave

         23  testimony that this concessionaire is up for an

         24  extension; has that extension been granted, do you

         25  know?
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          2                 MR. SPORN: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When is the

          4  extension? Doesn't anyone --

          5                 MS. HAYWOOD: The license currently

          6  expires in 2008; however, because the fundamental

          7  obligation as recognized by Corporate Counsel of

          8  this concessionaire is to erect the capital

          9  structure of the state-of-the-art facility described

         10  in the license agreement, the concessionaire

         11  basically says, well, now that I got the approval, I

         12  really can't afford to build the building because

         13  there are only five years left to my term and I

         14  won't be able to amortize these costs and reap any

         15  benefit. So they're thinking about giving her an

         16  extension. This was proposed in writing and I have

         17  copies of it. I'll be happy to show you. If she

         18  could put up a $300,000 security deposit to

         19  demonstrate her ability to build the building, she

         20  couldn't do it and it fell apart.

         21                 She walks through Brooklyn soliciting

         22  investors to try to get together with her to build

         23  this building. Twice Parks has rejected these

         24  investment proposals because she is forbidden by the

         25  contract to sell a majority interest. So, clearly

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  she's without the financials to build the building,

          3  and now the City, Corporation Counsel, basically

          4  withdrew their cross motion because the plaintiff

          5  went into court and got a temporary order, a

          6  restraining order against the City to stop the

          7  termination process. They let it languish for five

          8  months without responding, finally the City

          9  responded, and then they agreed that they would not

         10  continue on the original termination, they would

         11  reinstate her conditionally and now what we're being

         12  told is that they're telling her please build the

         13  building. Please build the building, it's only five

         14  years have passed, but please build it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, in

         16  essence, the extension has not -- of the agreement

         17  have not yet moved forward?

         18                 MR. HAYWOOD: No, they're moving to a

         19  different strategy. We were going to oppose the

         20  extension. Now what they're going to do is they

         21  start building the building and we'll get you the

         22  extension.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I'm not

         24  asking, I'm going to submit in writing, even

         25  separate from the Parks Committee, that our
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          2  Oversight and Investigation Committee do an

          3  investigation concerning it, because as sitting here

          4  as a member of this Committee, the allegations that

          5  you raised is outrageous. They are outrageous, and

          6  just sitting here gets me angry to listen to the

          7  allegations that you have brought forward against

          8  this contract, to this vendor that has an agreement

          9  with the City of New York.

         10                 I'm personally going to visit the

         11  park myself, and I'm going to get a copy of the

         12  agreement and I want to look and see and I'm going

         13  to be calling the Commissioner or myself or the head

         14  and I want some answers. Because, I mean, if what

         15  you're saying is true, then you're right, if the

         16  neglect as the Parks Department that oversees the

         17  entire operations, you know, if this was like a

         18  family services, they would arrest that parent

         19  because it's been clear neglect as put forward by

         20  your allegations. And as I said, their allegations,

         21  because there are two sides to every story, but I'm

         22  telling you, I'm sitting here and I'm steaming as a

         23  member of the City Council that the Parks Department

         24  appears to have dropped the ball not only once but

         25  many, many times, and has failed to go and do what
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          2  they have to do.

          3                 I mean, in any other situation like

          4  this the agreement should have been terminated

          5  and/or put out another request for proposal and let

          6  somebody else come in here and take it over.

          7                 And I'm going to dissect this. If I

          8  have to do it myself, I will dissect it.

          9                 MS. HAYWOOD: If you would permit me

         10  to suggest, I think it's very beneficial to this

         11  Council to have a list of all the concessions,

         12  especially in the districts, but what is more

         13  important, I believe, and what could be more

         14  beneficial, is to ask for copies of a license

         15  agreement. Because it is that type of agreement that

         16  sets forth the obligations of concessionaire, and we

         17  have instances, and this, with respect to this

         18  concessionaire, who is required to give 40 to 50

         19  percent discounts to student high schools and other

         20  organizations where she's charged the Yeshiva of

         21  Brooklyn full price, Girls High School full price,

         22  Brooklyn Tech full price. We have paid receipts.

         23  We've shown them to the Parks. No answer. She's

         24  violated this agreement with respect to every single

         25  provision of the agreement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you have a

          3  copy of the agreement?

          4                 MS. HAYWOOD: Yes, I do have it here.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sure you

          6  have a copy of the agreement.

          7                 I would love to have a copy of it.

          8  And I'm going to request one from the Parks

          9  Department to see if the one that they submit to me

         10  is the same one that you're giving me.

         11                 MS. HAYWOOD: I got this from them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand

         13  what you got from them, but I'm going to request it,

         14  I want to see what they give me, if in fact it's the

         15  same thing.

         16                 That's the independent way for me to

         17  verify that what they're giving to me is the same

         18  thing that you have.

         19                 So, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Jackson.

         22                 Just for Council Member Jackson's

         23  notification, as well as for those who are on this

         24  issue, again, we will have a discussion, as well as

         25  a letter to the Department of Parks and Recreation,
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          2  and talk to the appropriate persons of the Parks

          3  Department until we get a clear picture. I think we

          4  need to have a clear picture of the whole situation

          5  before we can move forward in any direction. And to

          6  do it rationally and to do it positively for the

          7  residents, I think it's important that we do enter

          8  discussions as early as tomorrow.

          9                 So, like I said, as soon as we get

         10  something in writing or verbally we will let the

         11  public know, but it's important that we do this

         12  rationally and do it right. So, thank you very much

         13  for your time and testimony today.

         14                 MS. HAYWOOD: Thank you.

         15                 MR. SPORN: Thank you.

         16                 MS. HERRICK: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Our last panel

         18  will be Susan Cleary and Mitchell Balmuth.

         19                 Please state your name and give your

         20  testimony, please.

         21                 MS. CLEARY: Hi. Thank you. Thank you

         22  for having this panel open to us in the community.

         23                 I'm Susan Cleary, I am part of the

         24  TAPP's organization, tennis player, taxpayer, lived

         25  in the community over 20 years. You've heard how the
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          2  concessionaire is in non-compliance with the license

          3  agreement, but I wanted to go onto a couple more of

          4  the egregious things and discuss them, as far as the

          5  idea that she operated without insurance for even an

          6  hour indicates her total lack of responsibility to

          7  operate a facility of this nature.

          8                 And operating without a cash

          9  register, I, myself, had a small business and

         10  wouldn't think of running, you know, a business open

         11  to public, especially with getting over 100,000 a

         12  month in revenues, without a cash register.

         13                 These are clearly not standard

         14  business practices, and there's no reason that

         15  someone with -- this should be a big privilege to be

         16  a concessionaire for New York City, especially in a

         17  location right across the street from Prospect Park,

         18  one of the, you know, really historical landmarks in

         19  New York City, maybe in the country. So, the fact

         20  that she is allowed time and again to stay there is

         21  really, I think all of us agree has got to come to

         22  an end.

         23                 The other thing I want to stress is

         24  that there's many tennis facilities that are

         25  closing, the Wall Street facility, two facilities in
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          2  Long Island City, and this could be and should be

          3  extremely profitable concession that should have

          4  many ability -- much ability to offer tennis to the

          5  many children in the community who couldn't afford

          6  to play tennis.

          7                 I'm a member of the Knickerbocker

          8  Tennis Club, which is a not-for-profit organization

          9  less than a mile away from this facility, and we had

         10  a program in the summertime where 40 disadvantaged

         11  kids get to play tennis for free, with instruction,

         12  and we sought grants to get them tennis time during

         13  the winter.

         14                 So, I know that with the type of

         15  ability that this could generate in revenues, that a

         16  tremendous amount of good could come. And it's no

         17  joke, we could have a Serina Williams out there and

         18  I think we could get a lot of corporate

         19  sponsorships, but not in the conditions that it's

         20  in. And time is of the essence, and we're going to

         21  follow this through, I think that you can see that,

         22  and I think that you're interested also. We thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         25  Cleary. I think you're exactly right, time is of the
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          2  essence, this is something that cannot wait. And

          3  aside from agreeing with you about the revenue

          4  portion or revenue end of it, I just think that

          5  there's a disservice so I hear, to the residents,

          6  and I think that's what bothers me most of all, that

          7  we have a facility that should be for the public

          8  that's not being administered very well, and that's

          9  the angle that I want to go on. So much for the

         10  revenue end, but I think there's a service or a

         11  disservice right now to the residents and that's

         12  what we're going to act on. So, again, I appreciate

         13  your time and testimony today.

         14                 MS. CLEARY: It's a danger. I want you

         15  to know that also with the water that's seeping in

         16  constantly. I was just there last week and there's a

         17  lot of electrical cording and I saw flames coming

         18  out of one --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes, that's a

         20  problem.

         21                 MS. CLEARY: This is a disaster

         22  waiting to happen and you really cannot allow it to

         23  continue.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I agree with you

         25  totally. We do not want to react to something, we'd
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          2  rather prevent it. So that's why we'll have to do

          3  something as soon as tomorrow. So, thank you very

          4  much, Ms. Cleary.

          5                 Mr. Balmuth.

          6                 MR. BALMUTH: How you doing?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: How are you

          8  doing?

          9                 MR. BALMUTH: First, I'd like to

         10  suggest that you guys have another hearing on this

         11  issue, because you've heard from the tennis people

         12  are obviously well organized, but there are other

         13  issues I'm sure when you look through the concession

         14  agreements.

         15                 Okay, I understand that during this

         16  particular time it is important to find more

         17  revenues for the City, but do we really want to sell

         18  off public space at the expense of the public or the

         19  First Amendment? This is exactly what the Parks

         20  Department and its various conservancies are trying

         21  to do with our parks, whether it's a Central Park

         22  Conservancy selling name plaques on public benches

         23  for $7,500, or Bryant Park closing up the whole park

         24  for a fashion show, renting the Great Haunted Disney

         25  for one night or selling off the space directly in
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          2  front of the steps of the Metropolitan Museum to a

          3  hot dog conglomerate for $300,000, our public space

          4  is for sale to the highest bidder.

          5                 And Central Park, some of the same

          6  hot dog conglomerate has won the concession rights

          7  to sell hot dogs, pretzels, ice cream, et cetera, in

          8  41 locations. They also own 12 locations in Battery

          9  Park, paying the City approximately $3 million.

         10                 This doesn't sound like the

         11  individual immigrant starting a new business to me.

         12  The one tee-shirt vending concession in Central Park

         13  operates ten stands, pays over $400,000, while the

         14  tee-shirt vending concession in Battery Park

         15  operates ten locations -- six locations, I mean six

         16  locations for almost $650,000. The book concession

         17  in Central Park pays 65,000 for its location, where

         18  he sells only items protected by the First

         19  Amendment.

         20                 The Parks Department search for the

         21  highest bidder doesn't exclude items protected by

         22  the First Amendment. Although the law doesn't

         23  require book sellers to get a park permit, the Parks

         24  Department has been pushing up the bid for this

         25  location from 35,000 in 1995 to the present bid.
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          2  When bidding for that location took place three

          3  years ago, the bidders were not even told of the

          4  pending First Amendment lawsuit that could greatly

          5  impact their businesses.

          6                 As a matter of fact, the Parks

          7  Department has tried to force artists into a bidding

          8  system since 1996, when in February the lawyer for

          9  the Park Department proposed to sell off eight

         10  spaces in the plazas in front of the Metropolitan

         11  Museum to the highest bidder.

         12                 Even in Adrian Benepe's testimony at

         13  the Intro. 160 hearing, he said the permit proposed

         14  would not be to a concession system, though many New

         15  Yorkers would think it perfectly appropriate for all

         16  people doing business on public property to pay the

         17  City for --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Balmuth,

         19  please sum up, please.

         20                 MR. BALMUTH: I will. I have one more

         21  paragraph, okay?

         22                 In a recent article in our town, he

         23  also made light of the small fee he wanted to charge

         24  artists, saying it wouldn't even cover the

         25  administrative cost of regulating vendors. Food
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          2  vendors pay the City up to 300,000 a year for one

          3  cart.

          4                 The Parks Department design to get

          5  these high bids has led to favoritism and

          6  accusations of pressuring applicants to give large

          7  sums of money to private charities with close ties

          8  to Parks Department.

          9                 Also, once these businesses win their

         10  bids, there is no oversight on these concessions,

         11  other to make sure they keep up on their payments.

         12  This is obvious with the tennis courts.

         13                 How they treat their workers is

         14  unimportant to the Parks Department, as long as

         15  concessions pay.

         16                 Last night I spoke with a former

         17  employee of one of the above concessions and he told

         18  me that they only received a half-hour break all day

         19  which during the summer could last 11 hours. Was

         20  paid in cash $50 a day. Never received a W-2 form or

         21  given any benefits, and that the company hired many

         22  employees that had no documentation.

         23                 These concessions are forced to cut

         24  corners in order to pay the high fees that the Parks

         25  Department collects.
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          2                 Once again, when you're dealing with

          3  having to make profits, it's usually the workers

          4  that suffer, or the public, as far as the tennis

          5  courts. These people with the tennis courts that

          6  we've heard a lot about are basically trying to cut

          7  corners so they can make their payments.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Balmuth. I appreciate your time and

         10  testimony.

         11                 There being no further questions, I

         12  do want to thank everyone for giving their time and

         13  testimony today, for appearing.

         14                 Our next hearing for Department of

         15  Parks and Recreation Committee is May 5th, in which

         16  we will be discussing Adopt-A-Park programs, a piece

         17  of legislation being introduced by this Committee by

         18  myself, and we will also be doing name changes, and

         19  that will be -- I believe it's street name changes

         20  exactly. Once again, thank you very much, everyone.

         21  Meeting is adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 14th day of April 2003.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            119

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

